# **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

## **BETWEEN**

# THE NORTHERN ONTARIO LIBRARY SERVICE BOARD [Hereinafter referred to as the "Employer"]

# PARTY OF THE FIRST PART

and

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES and its LOCAL 4705 [Hereinafter referred to as the "Union"]

PARTY OF THE SECOND PART

Term: April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2021

# Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 2 - EMPLOYER RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 3 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION	
ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 5 - UNION SECURITY	
ARTICLE 6 - CORRESPONDENCE	5
ARTICLE 7 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT MEETINGS	<i>6</i>
ARTICLE 8 - RESOLUTIONS & REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER	<i>6</i>
ARTICLE 9 – GRIEVANCES AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	<i>6</i>
ARTICLE 10 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	10
ARTICLE 11 - PERSONNEL RECORDS	11
ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY	11
ARTICLE 13 - LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS	13
ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTINGS	14
ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK	16
ARTICLE 16 - OVERTIME	17
ARTICLE 17 - PAID HOLIDAYS	20
ARTICLE 18 - VACATIONS	20
ARTICLE 19 – BENEFIT PLANS AND SICK LEAVE	23
ARTICLE 20 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	25
ARTICLE 21 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	30
ARTICLE 22 - JOB EVALUATION	31
ARTICLE 23 - PENSION PLAN & BENEFIT STATEMENT	33
ARTICLE 24 - HEALTH & SAFETY	34
ARTICLE 25 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	35
ARTICLE 26 – GENERAL CONDITIONS	36
ARTICLE 27 - PRESENT CONDITIONS & BENEFITS	36
ARTICLE 28 - TERMS OF AGREEMENT	37
APPENDIX A - GRADE AND POSITIONS	39
APPENDIX B – Salary Scale	40
APPENDIX C – Supplemental Unemployment Benefits (Sub) Plan	43
APPENDIX D – OLA Membership	44
APPENDIX E – PREPAID LEAVE PROGRAM	45
APPENDIX F - CEO	47
APPENDIX G - HOURS OF WORK - TECHNICAL ADVISORS	40

# ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS

- 1.01 It is the purpose of both Parties to this Agreement:
  - 1. To establish mutually satisfactory relations between the Employer and the Union and provide settled and just conditions of employment.
  - 2. To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions, employment and service.
  - 3. To encourage efficiency in operations.
  - 4. To promote the morale, well-being and security of all Employees in the Bargaining Unit of the Union.
- It is agreed by the Parties hereto that every covenant, proviso and agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto, and their assigns, and that all covenants herein shall be construed as being joint and several and that when the context so requires or permits the singular number shall read as if the plural were expressed and the feminine gender as if the masculine, as the case may be, were expressed.
- 1.03 The parties recognize the following definitions for purposes of this agreement:

Working day - means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or a holiday outlined in Article 17 of this Collective Agreement.

<u>Spouse</u> - in this Collective Agreement will also mean persons in a common-law relationship and partners in a same sex relationship of longer than one (1) year.

<u>Grievance</u> - within the terms of this agreement shall be defined as a difference arising between an Employee, the Union or both and the Employer as to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement.

<u>General grievances</u> - are differences arising directly between the Union and the Employer concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of this Agreement

<u>Temporary Employees</u> - are defined as Employees who are hired by the Employer, with the agreement of the Union, for a specific task or time frame. Temporary Employees are not covered by the provisions of the Collective Agreement.

<u>Technological change</u> - means any substantial change in equipment, and/or material used, or processes substantially different in nature, type or quantity from those previously utilized.

<u>Training</u> - practical instruction to acquire a particular skill related to an individual's employment. This may include, but is not limited to, instruction in software and or in depth instruction of job-specific procedures.

<u>Orientation</u> - an introduction of a staff member to a new job/work environment. This may include, but is not limited to explanations regarding workspace and location of work tools, general information regarding duties and sharing of knowledge of organizational procedures.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - EMPLOYER RIGHTS**

- 2.01 The Union recognizes that the management and direction of working forces are fixed exclusively in the Employer and without restricting the generality of the foregoing; the Union acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Employer to:
  - 1. Maintain order, discipline and efficiency.
  - 2. Hire, lay off, classify, direct, transfer, promote; and for just cause to suspend, discipline, demote or discharge Employees.
  - 3. Generally to manage the enterprises in which the Employer is engaged and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, to determine the work to be performed; the methods and processes to be employed; schedules of operation; and subject to the terms of this agreement; the content of jobs; the types and locations of equipment to be used; and the number of persons to be employed.
- 2.02 The Employer also has the right to make and alter from time to time rules and regulations to be observed by Employees. When rules or regulations are instituted or altered, the Employer shall inform Employees by either e-mail or hand delivered memorandum. It is understood that rules and regulations shall not be contrary to this Agreement.
- 2.03 It shall be the responsibility of each Employee to notify the Employer or a designate within five (5) calendar days of any change in their address or telephone number.

#### ARTICLE 3 - RECOGNITION AND NEGOTIATION

3.01(1) The Employer recognizes the Canadian Union of Public Employees and its Local 4705 as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Employees save and except Managers, persons above the rank of Manager, and Executive Assistant and any such new management positions as may be created subject to 3.01(2)

# 3.01(2) New positions

The Employer will prepare a job description for all newly proposed positions and determine whether the position should be included or excluded from the scope of this Agreement. Should the Union disagree with the characterization, the parties will meet to discuss and, if no resolution is reached, the matter may be the subject of a grievance.

All new positions will be evaluated as per Article 22 of the Collective Agreement.

# 3.02(1) Work of the Bargaining Unit

Employees outside the scope of this Agreement shall not perform the regular duties of the Employees within the scope of the Agreement except for the purposes of instruction, experimentation, or during an immediate emergency. Employees outside the scope of this Agreement may be allowed to perform the duties of Employees within the scope of the Agreement in other cases which shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties and which do not reduce the hours of work or pay of any Employee.

- 3.02(2) The Employer will not voluntary participate in any program for the deployment of workers not paid by the Employer or programs of a similar nature unless mutually agreed upon between the Parties or legislated.
- 3.02(3) No Bargaining Unit work shall be assigned to summer students to the extent that it reduces the hours of work, negotiated wages or causes a lay-off or reduction of staff.

Prior to the commencement of employment by summer students the Employer shall notify the Union in writing, including the number of students, work locations and duties to be performed.

# 3.03 Right of Union representation

- 3.03(1) The Employer shall not bargain with or enter into any agreement with an Employee or group of Employees within the Bargaining Unit and no Employee shall be required to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer on matters relative to hours of work, wages and working conditions, promotions or any other matters covered by this Agreement.
- 3.03(2) No Employee or group of Employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without the proper authorization of the Union. In representing an Employee or group of Employees, an elected or appointed representative of the Union shall be the spokesperson.

- 3.03(3) The Union shall have the right at any time to have the assistance of representatives of the Canadian Union of Public Employees or any other advisor(s) when dealing or negotiating with the Employer. Such representative(s)/advisor(s) shall have access to the Employer's premises after clearance by the Chief Executive Officer or designate in order to deal with any matters arising out of this Collective Agreement.
- 3.03(4) The Union will supply the Employer with the names of its Officers and the Employer will supply the Union with a list of its Supervisory Personnel with whom the Union may be required to transact business.
- 3.04(1) A Steward or Committee member shall not leave their regular duties in order to deal with any grievance or other Union business with the Employer without first obtaining permission of their Manager and the Manager of any Employee to whom they wish to speak.
- 3.04(2) Subject to the approval of the Chief Executive Officer or designate, representatives of the Employees shall be granted necessary leaves of absence with pay during working hours to meet with supervisory personnel for the purpose of investigation, consideration and adjustment of grievances.
- 3.05 The Union will not nor will any Employee engage in Union activities during working hours on the premises of the Employer, with the exception of the areas covered by the Collective Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - NO DISCRIMINATION**

- 4.01 The Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination, intimidation or coercion practised by the Employer or the Union against any Employee because of membership or non-membership in any lawful Union or because of age (as defined in the Ontario Human Rights Code), sex, sexual orientation, race, colour, religion or creed, marital status, family relationship, political affiliation, place of residence, ancestry, place of origin, ethnic origin, citizenship, record of offences, or disability.
- 4.02 Neither the Employer nor the Union condones the practice of harassment or violence in the workplace and they encourage Employees to use existing policies and complaint procedures wherever possible to resolve incidents that may arise. A Bargaining Unit Employee who is a complainant, respondent or witness may have union representation if they choose. Notwithstanding these procedures it is recognized that any claim of harassment, may be referred by either party to the Ontario Human Rights Tribunal or Ministry of Labour.

## **ARTICLE 5 - UNION SECURITY**

- No person shall be required as a condition of employment to become or remain a member of the Union or any other organization.
- 5.02 The Employer shall deduct from every Employee any dues, initiation fees, or assessments levied by the Union on its members.
- Deductions shall be forwarded in one payment to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union not later than the 10th day of the following month for which the dues were levied. The funds and information will be sent by electronic transfer shall be accompanied by a list of the names of Employees from whose wages the deductions have been made. This list shall indicate additions or deletions of staff, promotions, demotions, changes of address and whether an Employee is permanent, probationary, or temporary.
- 5.04 The Employer shall include the amount of Union Dues paid by each Union member on the Income Tax [T-4] slips when prepared.
- 5.05 The Employer agrees to acquaint potential Employees with the fact that a Union Agreement is in effect, and with the Conditions of Employment as set out in the Article 5-Union Security.
- On commencing employment, the Employee's immediate manager shall introduce the new Employee to their Union Steward or Representatives. An Officer of the Union shall be given an opportunity to interview each new Employee within regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of thirty [30] minutes during the first month of employment for the purpose of acquainting the new Employee with the benefits and duties of Union membership. This interview shall be scheduled at a mutually agreed upon time, in consultation with the manager(s) of the Employees involved.
- 5.07 A copy of the approved minutes of Board Meetings shall be mailed to the Secretary of the Local and the staff member who serves as Sectional Chair or President of the Local.

# **ARTICLE 6 - CORRESPONDENCE**

All correspondence between the Parties, arising out of this Agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the Chief Executive Officer and the Recording Secretary of the Union, or the Sectional Chair or President of the Local Union, with a copy to the Recording Secretary of the Union.

A copy of any correspondence between the Employer, or its designate and any Employee in the Bargaining Unit, pertaining to the interpretation, administration, or application of any part of this Agreement shall be forwarded to the Recording Secretary of the Union or their designate.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT MEETINGS**

7.01 The Employer agrees that representatives of its Administration will meet with the Union during the term of this Collective Agreement at times mutually agreed to upon the request of either party to discuss problems arising with the administration of the Collective Agreement; and other matters which may further assist improvement in Management-Union relations.

The Employer will recognize a Labour-Management Committee consisting of not more than two Employees from the Union and two representatives of the Employer. This committee will meet quarterly, and/or at any time deemed necessary, at a mutually agreeable time. The Union and the Employer will exchange agendas of matters for discussion seven calendar days before the date scheduled for the meeting of this Committee.

7.02 Employees shall not suffer any loss of pay for attending any meetings as specified in 7.01.

#### ARTICLE 8 - RESOLUTIONS & REPORTS OF THE EMPLOYER

8.01 The Employer will forward copies of all motions, resolutions, reports including but not limited to the approved annual budget, the approved annual report, audited statement, by-laws or rules and regulations adopted by the Board which affect the members of the Union to the Union.

This will exclude such material the Employer dealt with in camera or that relates to collective bargaining, or that are otherwise subject to legal constraints on disclosure.

Grant post project reports may be requested by the Union and may be provided on a case to case basis.

# ARTICLE 9 – GRIEVANCES AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- Any dispute arising over the interpretation of the terms of this Agreement shall be adjusted and settled in an orderly manner without interruption to services. Therefore, the Employees agree that if any differences with the Employer occur during the time period of this Agreement, the same will be dealt with under the Grievance Procedure hereinafter set forth under Article 9.
- 9.02(1) The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint or otherwise select a Union Grievance committee from members of Local 4705 who shall be Employees of the Employer.

- 9.02(2) The Union shall send a list of the members of this committee to the Employer, and shall notify the Employer of any changes to the membership of this committee.
- 9.03(1) It is understood that an Employee has no grievance until they have first given their immediate manager an opportunity to adjust their complaint. In discussing their complaint, the Employee may be accompanied by a Steward.
- 9.03(2) An Employee who is not satisfied with their immediate manager's response to their complaint may, within five working days, commence a formal written grievance at stage one of the grievance procedure.
- 9.03(3) Complaints and grievances shall be dealt with in the following manner, and all grievances must be in writing and bear the signature of the union representative and in the case of an individual grievance the grievor. Grievances may be submitted provided that no more than twenty (20) working days have elapsed since the occurrence of the alleged grievance.

### 9.04 STAGE ONE

The Employee accompanied by a steward shall first take the written grievance to the Employee's immediate manager. Any Employee's grievance which is not settled by the Employee's immediate manager within 5 working days of presentation may proceed to Stage Two.

# 9.05 STAGE TWO

If the Union Grievance Committee decides to proceed to Stage Two with the grievance, then one (1) member of the Union Grievance Committee shall within five working days after the receipt of the Stage One written reply, submit the written grievance to the Chief Executive Officer or designate. A meeting between the parties shall take place within ten (10) working days of receipt of the grievance. A written answer from the Chief Executive Officer or designate shall be given within five (5) working days of the meeting.

- 9.06(1) It is agreed and understood by both parties hereto that grievances as a result of a job posting under Article 14, shall be initiated under Stage 2 of the Grievance Procedure.
- 9.06(2) It is agreed and understood by the parties hereto that a grievance as a result of a policy and/or Board decision, which is alleged to be contrary to the provisions of the Collective Agreement, shall be initiated under Stage Two of the grievance procedure.
- 9.06(3) Where a dispute involving a question of general application or interpretation of the Health and Safety provisions of this collective agreement occurs, it shall be subject to the grievance procedure and Step one of the grievance procedure may be bypassed.

9.06(4) In cases where a Chief Executive Officer is also the immediate manager of the grievor, and failing settlement of the complaint stage, the grievance shall be initiated under Stage Two of the grievance procedure.

# 9.07(1) General Grievances

It is understood there is no general grievance until the Chief Executive Officer or designate has had an opportunity to adjust the complaint. Such complaint shall be satisfactorily settled within five (5) working days following the date of receipt of the complaint or it may then be immediately implemented under Stage Two.

- 9.07(2) General grievances may be submitted in writing by either party and dealt with as a grievance commencing at Stage Two of the grievance procedure, after Section 9.07 (1) has been complied with.
- 9.07(3) Any grievance by the Employer or the Union as provided under Section 9.07 shall be filed within thirty (30) working days of the date of the occurrence.

# 9.08 Grievance of Discharge, Suspension or Discipline

Employees may be discharged, suspended or disciplined for just cause and if they believe they have been unjustifiably discharged, suspended or disciplined, they may have their grievance processed under the grievance procedure starting at Stage Two, if presented in writing within five (5) working days after the date of discharge, suspension or discipline.

9.09 All grievance meetings shall be held in the City of Greater Sudbury.

#### 9.10 Arbitration

- 9.10(1) Any grievance not settled at Stage Two may, before forty (40) working days have elapsed since the receipt of the written decision at Stage Two, be submitted by either party to Arbitration in accordance with Section 48 or Section 49 of *The Ontario Labour Relations Act, R.S.O. 1995*, and amendments.
- 9.10(2) When either party submits a grievance to arbitration, except by referral under section 49, it will notify the other party to the agreement of the referral by Registered Mail, indicating the name of its Nominee to the Arbitration Board. Within five (5) days thereafter, the other Party shall answer by Registered Mail indicating the name and address of its Nominee to the Arbitration Board. The two (2) nominees shall then select an impartial chairperson.

If the recipient of the notice fails to appoint a Nominee to the Arbitration Board or if the Nominees fail to agree on a Chairperson within ten (10) working days of their appointment, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour for Ontario upon request of either party.

- 9.10(3) Except by referral in section 49 of the O.L.R.A, 1995 the parties may mutually agree to have a single arbitrator hear the matter in dispute instead of a three person board as outlined in 9.10(2). In such case, the party wishing to submit the issue to arbitration should indicate in its notice of intent to arbitrate that it would like the matter heard by a single arbitrator. The recipient of the notice shall inform the other party within seven calendar days of receipt of the notice if it is agreeable or not to the matter being heard by a single arbitrator. If so, the parties shall endeavour to select the single arbitrator. Failing agreement within thirty days or such time as agreed by the parties clause 9.10(2) shall be followed. The single arbitrator shall be bound by all clauses of article 9.10(5) in the same manner as a Board of Arbitration with the necessary changes being made.
- 9.10(4) Each of the parties to this Agreement shall bear the expenses of its nominee to an Arbitration Board. The expenses of the Chairperson of an Arbitration Board or a sole arbitrator and any cost of the place of hearing shall be shared equally between the parties.
- 9.10(5) The Sole Arbitrator or the Arbitration Board shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision and the decision is final and binding upon the Parties and upon any Employee affected by it. The decision of the majority shall be the decision of the board. An Arbitration Board or Sole Arbitrator shall not have any authority to alter or change any of the provisions of this Agreement or substitute any new provision in lieu thereof, or to give any decision contrary to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, however the Arbitration board or the Sole Arbitrator shall have the power to amend a grievance, modify penalties or dispose of a grievance by any arrangement which it deems just and equitable.
- 9.10(6) In resolving disputes, an Arbitration Board shall have regard to the real substance of the matters in dispute and the respective merits of the positions of the Parties, and shall apply principles consistent with the *Labour Relations Act* and not be bound by a strict legal interpretation of the issue in dispute.
- 9.10(7) The Arbitration Board shall have the power to receive and accept evidence and information on oath, affidavit or otherwise as in its discretion it considers proper, whether or not the evidence is admissible in a court of law.
- 9.10(8) A grievance or arbitration shall not be deemed invalid by reason of a defect in form, a technical irregularity, or an error of procedure if it results in a denial of natural justice. An arbitration may relieve against those defects, irregularities or errors of procedure on just and reasonable terms.

- 9.10(9) At any stage of the Grievance or Arbitration Procedure, the Parties shall have the assistance of the Employee or Employees involved and any necessary witnesses. All reasonable arrangements shall be made to permit the conferring Parties of Arbitrator(s) to have access to the Employer's premises to view any working conditions which may be relevant to the settlement of the Grievance.
- 9.10(10) All Arbitration Hearings shall be heard in the City of Greater Sudbury.

# 9.11 Extension of Time Limits

It is agreed and understood by both parties hereto that there shall be no extension to the time limits as outlined in the Grievance or Arbitration Procedure herein unless by mutual consent, which consent may not be arbitrarily or unreasonably withheld by either party to this agreement. Both parties agree that failure on the part of either party to request an extension to the time limits of a grievance procedure may lead to the determination that the grievance has been abandoned by the initiating party.

# ARTICLE 10 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

# 10.01 Right to have a Steward Present

When the Employer requests a meeting with an Employee, which may result in the imposition of discipline, the Employer shall notify the Employee in advance. The Employee shall have the right to have a steward present at this meeting.

A steward or Local Union Officer shall have the right to consult with a CUPE staff representative on behalf of an Employee and also to have them present at any discussion with Employer which might be the basis of disciplinary action, provided that the inclusion of the staff representative will not result in the meeting being unreasonably delayed.

The Employee shall be notified in writing of any disciplinary action taken by the Employer, with full disclosure of the reasons, grounds for action, and/or penalty, with a copy to the Secretary of the Union.

In cases of discharge and/or discipline, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer. In any subsequent Grievance Proceedings or Arbitration Hearing, evidence shall be limited to the grounds stated in the discharge or discipline notice to the Employee.

The Employer shall notify an Employee of dissatisfaction concerning their activities or of an investigation into their alleged misconduct which may reflect on their employment with the Employer within thirty (30) working days of the occurrence. Any notice of disciplinary action, with the exception of discipline imposed as a result of workplace harassment or violence as defined in 4.02, shall be disregarded after twelve (12) months provided that no further disciplinary action has been recorded. Any notice of disciplinary action related to harassment or violence as defined in 4.02, shall be disregarded after eighteen (18) months provided that no further disciplinary action has been recorded.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - PERSONNEL RECORDS**

- It shall be the right of each Employee, upon sufficient notice and at reasonable intervals to have access to and review the contents of their personnel records in the presence of a Manager. Any disagreement to the accuracy of the information contained in the file may be subject to the grievance procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of the Employee's record. An Employee shall have the right to make copies of any material contained in their personnel record. With the written permission of the Employee, a representative of the local Union or the national Union shall also have the right of access to an Employee's personnel file, including attendance records.
- 11.02 The personnel records of an Employee, shall not be shared in any manner with any other Employer or agency without the prior written consent of the Employee concerned except as required by law.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY**

12.01 Seniority is defined as the length of continuous service in the Bargaining Unit on a Bargaining Unit wide basis, and shall include service with the Employer prior to the certification or recognition of the Union.

Therefore, the parties recognize:

- a) The right of the public to be served by qualified persons.
- b) The right of the Employees to fair and just consideration for vacancies in light of their length of service and their qualifications.

Therefore, the parties agree:

In promotions, demotions, transfers, lay-offs and recalls, the following factors shall be considered:

a) Knowledge, qualifications, efficiency and ability as contained in the job descriptions.

# b) Length of continuous service

When factor (a) is relatively equal in the judgement of the Employer, which judgement shall not be exercised in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner, factor (b) shall govern.

- 12.02(1) The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the current classification and date upon which each Employee's service commenced. Where two or more Employees commence work on the same day, preference shall be in accordance with the date and time of receipt of a written acceptance of the offer of employment. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on bulletin boards in all offices in January of each year.
- 12.02(2) Protests in regard to the list mentioned in Clause 12.02 (1) above, must be submitted in writing to the Chief Executive Officer within twenty (20) working days from the date the list is posted. When proof of error is presented by the Employee or their representative, such error will be corrected and when so corrected the agreed upon correction shall be final. No change in the seniority status of an Employee shall be made unless agreed to by the Union except as provided for in 12.04 and 20.15 (2).
- 12.03 A newly-hired Employee shall be on probation for 120 consecutive working days. The Employee shall not take vacation or any approved leave, except for discretionary leave due to illness or bereavement leave, during their probationary term without the mutual consent of the Employer and the Union. A period equal to any vacation period, approved leave or sick leave shall be added to the probationary period. Probationary Employees shall have all rights conferred by the agreement except to grieve their dismissal. After completion of the probationary period, seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment.
- 12.04 Seniority rights shall cease and employment will be terminated for any of the following reasons:
  - 1. Voluntary resignation;
  - 2. Discharge for just cause and not reinstated;
  - 3. Failing to report for work within ten (10) working days after receipt of a notice by registered mail to return to work after a lay-off;
  - 4. After a lay-off extending for a period of more than twelve (12) consecutive months for Employees with less than five years' seniority and twenty-four (24) months for Employees with five years seniority or more;
  - 5. Absent without leave for any period in excess of five (5) consecutive working days.

12.05(1) No Employee shall be transferred to a non-unionized position without their consent. If an Employee is transferred to a non-unionized position, they shall retain seniority accumulated up to the date of leaving the unit, but will not accumulate any further seniority. Such Employee shall have the right to return to a position in the Bargaining Unit during their trial period, which shall be a maximum of 60 working days. If an Employee returns to the Bargaining Unit, they shall be placed in a job consistent with their seniority and qualifications. Such return shall not result in the lay-off of an Employee holding greater seniority.

# ARTICLE 13 - LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS

- A lay-off shall be defined as a reduction in the work force or a reduction in the regular hours of work as defined in this Agreement.
- 13.02(1) It is agreed that once the Employer becomes aware that a lay-off may occur, the Employer will immediately notify the Union. As soon as practical after such notice, the parties shall meet to discuss alternatives to lay-offs including the feasibility of implementing early exit programs. Every effort shall be made by both parties to minimize the adverse effects of a lay-off.
- 13.02(2) Grievances concerning the implementation of the lay-off and recall clauses of this collective agreement shall be initiated at Stage 2 of the Grievance Procedure.
- Both Parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in the event of a lay-off, Employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their bargaining-unit-wide seniority, provided the Employee exercising the right is qualified to perform the work of the Employee with less seniority.
- 13.04 Employees shall be recalled in the order of their seniority.
- 13.05 New Employees shall not be hired until those Employees laid off and with seniority rights under 12.04 have been given an opportunity of recall in accordance with seniority. An Employee must be qualified or be deemed by the Employer to have equivalent qualifications to perform the duties of the available position.
- Unless legislation is more favourable to the Employees, the Employer shall notify Employees who are to be laid off thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of lay-off. If the Employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.
- When an Employee is to be laid off, they shall be allowed two (2) hours off during their last shift in order to attend any personnel or pay-related matters not yet settled.

- Any Employee transferred because of such a lay-off shall have up to 20 working days, exclusive of vacation, in which to prove their ability to perform the duties of this position. Any training during this period shall be provided at the Employer's expense. Each Employee shall have one trial period in any one position to prove their ability.
- An Employee in receipt of a layoff notice may exercise their right to bump an Employee with less seniority who has the least seniority in the classification into which the Employee wishes to bump provided that the Employee exercising bumping rights meets the qualifications as contained in the job description for the position that the Employee is selecting and has the requisite skill, ability and experience to perform the work without training, other than orientation, in accordance with the following:
  - 1. The right to bump does not include the right to bump into a higher rated position
  - 2. An Employee in receipt of a notice of layoff shall meet with the Employer within five (5) working days of receipt of layoff for the purpose of reviewing available positions in which they may bump into. The Employer shall provide Job Descriptions for any potential position considered.
  - 3. An Employee in receipt of a notice of layoff shall make their selection within ten (10) working days of the completion of the above step.

Failing the Employee exercising or having the ability to exercise a right to bump, the Employee will be laid off and will have recall rights for the period set out in paragraph 12.04 4. Employees on layoff will be considered for all other job postings and the Employer will provide Employees on layoff with a copy of all job postings.

### **ARTICLE 14 – JOB POSTINGS**

14.01(1) All vacant regular positions and/or temporary positions which the Employer intends to fill and newly created positions within the coverage of this Agreement, shall be posted for a period of five (5) working days during which time permanent Employees will have an opportunity to apply for such positions before other categories of Employees, non-Bargaining Unit Employees or non-Employees may apply.

The Employer shall decide if the vacancy will be filled within ten (10) working days of when the vacancy occurs. If the vacancy is to be filled, the posting period shall begin within five (5) working days of the decision to fill the vacancy. A selection period of up to twenty (20) working days, if required, shall be allowed following the removal of the posting after which the name of the successful applicant, if any, shall be immediately posted for a period of five (5) working days after the successful applicant has been notified.

The placement of the successful candidate to a job posting shall be effective within ten (10) working days of posting of the name of the successful applicant unless, extended by mutual agreement of the parties.

- 14.01(2) Such job posting notice shall contain the following information: nature of position, and requirements as outlined in the job description including required knowledge and education, skills, hours of work, or salary rate or range.
- 14.01(3) The successful applicant shall be notified immediately following the conclusion of the selection process. The Employee shall be given a trial period of sixty (60) working days, exclusive of vacation and other leaves, during which time they will receive the necessary training for the position. The Employer shall not curtail the trial period without just cause, before it has run its full course. Conditional on satisfactory performance, the Employee shall be declared permanent following completion of the trial period. In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position during the trial period, or if the Employee is unable or unwilling to continue to perform the duties of the new job classification, they shall be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority. Any other Employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority.
- 14.01(4) Upon the naming of a successful applicant to a posted position, the name of the successful applicant will be posted on all bulletin boards. The Employer shall, upon request, meet with an unsuccessful candidate to explain why they were not successful.
- Outside advertisements for a vacancy shall be placed only after the internal posting procedure in article 14.01(1) has been complied with.
- 14.03 Both parties recognize:

The right of the Employees to fair and just consideration for vacancies in light of their length of service and their qualifications.

- a) The right of the public to be served by qualified persons.
- b) The principle of promotion within the service of the Employer.

Therefore, in making staff changes, transfers or promotions, the provisions of Article 12.01 shall apply.

14.04 If a temporary vacancy occurs within the Bargaining Unit and this vacancy is filled with a Temporary Employee, the Employee shall be deemed to be a member of the Bargaining Unit for the length of their temporary employment, except that there shall be no right to grieve dismissal at the end of this temporary employment unless there is a bona fide allegation that such dismissal is discriminatory.

## ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK

15.01(1) The normal hours of work for all full-time Employees shall be a seventy (70) hour period coinciding with the regular pay period. Hours may be worked between 0730 and 1800 Monday to Friday inclusive.

#### Advisors

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where Advisors (except Technical Advisors) and Team Leads are required to work outside the office, hours may be worked between 0730 and 2200, Monday to Friday inclusive.

### Technical Advisors

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the hours of work for Technical Advisors shall be between 0730 and 2100, Monday to Friday inclusive, and 0830 to 1700, Saturday. Only one Technical Advisor will be required to be on-site during extended hours (i.e. 1630 to 2100 Monday to Friday and on Saturday). Where Technical Advisors are required to work outside the office, hours may be worked between 0730 and 2200, Monday to Friday inclusive.

- a) no more than eight (8) hours are worked per day;
- b) no more than five (5) consecutive hours are worked without at least a one-half (½) hour eating period;
- c) there are no more than two (2) work periods per day. Employees' time is flexible during a work period, with notification to the manager.
- d) work period is defined as the period from first reporting for work in any day to the eating break, or the period from the eating break to the final departure for the day.
- e) seventy (70) hours are worked within the period and that no time is carried from period to period;
- f) at least one (1) Employee from each unit in the Bargaining Unit may be required to be on duty in the Sudbury Office between 0830 and 1630 Monday to Friday inclusive.
- g) the Union agrees to inform its members of their obligation to ensure that the core hours including statutory meal breaks are properly staffed.

The hours of work provided for in the above article 15.01(1) [a-g] shall be implemented by mutual agreement between the Employee and the Employee's immediate manager. Failure to reach mutual agreement may result in the Employee being scheduled to work the requested hours. The Employer agrees that its administration of flex-time shall not be conducted in an unreasonable or arbitrary manner.

- 15.01(2) An Employee may be employed for fewer than seventy (70) hours in a pay period by agreement between the Union, on behalf of the Employee, and the Employer.
- During any full shift of seven hours or more, an Employee shall be entitled to two 15-minute breaks to be taken at the approximate mid-point of each half-shift as work flow may allow.
- Subject to the demands of client service, travel shall not be imposed nor shall travel plans be changed with less than 72 hours' notice.
- Where client libraries are open on the Saturday of Easter weekend the Employer may at their discretion schedule one individual from amongst the Technology Advisor or Service Team Lead Technology and Innovation classifications to work on the Saturday provided that no one individual is required to work more than one Easter Saturday in each three year period.

# **ARTICLE 16 - OVERTIME**

16.01(1) All time worked before 0730 and after 1800 Monday to Friday, or on a Paid Holiday, or after 70 hours of work in a pay period, as provided in this Agreement, shall be considered overtime.

All time worked by any Employee covered by this agreement on weekends or after completing eight hours of work in a day, shall be considered overtime.

#### Advisors

Notwithstanding the foregoing, where Advisors, other than Technical Advisors, are required to work outside the office, all time worked before 0730 and after 2200 Monday to Friday inclusive, shall be considered overtime.

# **Technical Advisors**

Notwithstanding the foregoing, overtime for Technical Advisors shall be incurred only for work in excess of eight hours in a day or in excess of 70 hours in a pay period. There shall be no pyramiding of premiums and Article 16.03 shall not apply in respect of the regularly scheduled hours on Saturday.

- 16.01(1) All overtime shall be pre-authorized in writing by a designated manager with the exception of unforeseen circumstances (i.e. weather, flight delays, etc.). In such unforeseen circumstances the Employee will contact the office and leave a message with a manager when able to safely do so.
- Overtime work after eight hours in any one day (Monday-Friday) shall be compensated for at the rate of time and one-half for the first three (3) hours of overtime and double time thereafter.
- 16.03 <u>Compensation for Work on Saturday or Sunday</u>

Work on any Saturday or Sunday shall be compensated by time in lieu calculated at the rate of double time.

# 16.04 Payment for or Supply of Meals

An Employee required to work more than two (2) hours overtime after a regular eight (8) hour shift, shall be provided with a meal or an allowance of \$15.00 (fifteen) by the Employer. The Employer shall allow one half (1/2) hour meal break with pay. An additional meal allowance and meal break will be allowed for each additional three (3) hours of overtime.

# 16.05 <u>Lay off to Compensate for Overtime</u>

An Employee shall not be required to lay-off during regular hours to equalize any overtime worked.

- Overtime and call back time will be distributed by seniority among Employees who are willing and qualified to perform the available work according to Employee classification. This provision shall not apply to overtime necessitated by travel.
- Overtime work will be on a voluntary basis unless operational requirements, in the opinion of the Employer, dictate otherwise.
- 16.08 There shall be no overtime worked in any operation while there are available Employees on lay-off to perform the work. This provision shall not apply to overtime necessitated by travel.
- A full time Employee who is called in and required to work outside their working hours shall be compensated for a minimum of three (3) hours at overtime rates whenever there is a break between the Employee's scheduled hours and the work the Employee is called in to do.

When the work called back for is completed, the Employee shall be allowed to leave.

#### 16.10 Time Off in Lieu of Overtime

Overtime shall be given in time off at the overtime rate, to be taken at a time selected by mutual agreement of the Employee and the Chief Executive Officer or designate. Such overtime may accrue to a maximum of seventy (70) hours at any time. All overtime shall be taken before the end of the fiscal year in which it was earned. If not the Employer will schedule the overtime to be taken prior to the end of June or will pay the overtime owing.

# 16.11 Conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops

- a) Mandatory conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops whenever the Employer requires Employees to attend mandatory conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops, such time spent on the conferences, conventions, seminars and workshops and time spent travelling to and from them will be considered to be time worked and will be paid at the appropriate rate of pay. Should the Employer require the Employee to work more than 8 hours, overtime provisions will apply. Travel and subsistence shall be as per article 21.08.
- b) Non-Mandatory conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops
  - Employees applying and receiving approval to attend non-mandatory work related conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars or workshops will be reimbursed for travel and subsistence as per article 21.08. The Employer will pay partial or full registration as per the written application and approval. The Employee will not suffer a loss of wages for any regularly scheduled hours they are in attendance at such conferences, training courses, seminars and workshops.
- c) Conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops conducted by the Employer
  - When Employees are in attendance at conferences, conventions, training courses, seminars and workshops conducted by the Employer, such time, will be treated as per articles 15.01, 15.02 and the relevant overtime clauses in this collective agreement. Travel and subsistence shall be as per article 21.08.
- Where an Employee wishes to engage in work-related travel outside the normal work hours set out in Article 15, the Employee shall obtain the approval of the Employee's supervisor. Such travel at the request of the Employee shall be compensated by time off in lieu at straight time and shall not be included in hours worked for purposes of overtime calculations.

#### **ARTICLE 17 - PAID HOLIDAYS**

17.01(1) The Employer recognizes the following as paid Holidays:

New Year's Day First Monday in August Family Day Labour Day

Good Friday Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday Remembrance Day

Victoria Day Christmas Day
Canada Day Boxing Day

17.01(2) Employees will be granted their Birthday as a paid holiday. Should an Employee's birthday fall on a day off or another paid holiday or during the Employee's vacation, the Employee will be granted another day off with pay scheduled at a mutually agreeable time.

When any of the above-noted Paid Holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday and is not declared or proclaimed as being observed on some other day the following shall apply:

Paid Holiday	Falling on	Day off with Pay in Lieu
New Year's Day	Saturday or Sunday	Monday following
Canada Day	Saturday or Sunday	Monday following
Remembrance Day	Saturday or Sunday	Monday following
Christmas Day	Saturday or Sunday	Friday preceding
Boxing Day	Saturday or Sunday	Monday following

- 17.03 An Employee who is not required to work on the above Paid Holidays shall receive holiday pay equal to one day's pay. An Employee who is required to work shall be paid at the rate of time and one half plus their regular pay or another day off in lieu. In the case of Christmas or New Year's Day, the rate of pay shall be double time plus a day off in lieu. Should a member of the Technology and Innovation Team be required to work on the regular lieu day, they shall be given another lieu day at a mutually agreeable time.
- 17.04 An Employee to qualify to be paid for a Holiday must work their shift before and after such holidays unless the said Employee is on annual vacation, sick leave or absence with pay or excused from duty by a designated Manager.

#### **ARTICLE 18 - VACATIONS**

18.01 A full time Employee shall receive an annual vacation with pay in accordance with the Employee's years of service as follows:

# Employed for:

### less than one (1) year

1 1/4 working days for each month and to receive pay at their basic rate in effect immediately prior to the commencement of their annual vacation;

#### over one (1) year

twenty (20) working days and to receive pay at their basic rate in effect immediately prior to the commencement of their annual vacation;

#### over seven (7) years

twenty-five (25) working days and to receive pay at their basic rate in effect immediately prior to the commencement of their annual vacation;

### over fifteen (15) years

thirty (30) working days and to receive pay at their basic rate in effect immediately prior to the commencement of their annual vacation

## over twenty (20) years

thirty-five (35) working days and to receive pay at their basic rate in effect immediately prior to the commencement of their annual vacation

- 18.02 If a paid holiday falls or is observed during an Employee's vacation period, they shall be allowed an additional vacation day with pay at a time mutually agreed by the Employee and the Chief Executive Officer or designate.
- 18.03(1) Employees terminating their employment with the Employer will be paid an amount to be calculated on a pro rata basis in accordance with their vacation entitlement, for that portion of their service not covered by previous vacation allowance. Such payment will accompany payment for the Employees final pay period.
- 18.03(2) It is agreed that vacation entitlement is earned in the current fiscal year (April 1-March 31) and that Employees are given vacation in advance which may not be fully earned until the end of the current fiscal year.
- 18.03(3) In any fiscal year an Employee who is eligible for vacation with pay under Article 18 and leaves the services of the Employer, the Employer shall be entitled to recover from such Employee the value of such vacation taken prior to actual entitlement.
- On retirement an Employee shall be entitled to the vacation or vacation pay earned at the last day of the month of retirement.
- 18.05(1) The principle of granting vacation shall be governed by seniority provided the Employee submits a request for vacation:

- a) Prior to September 1 for the period November 1 to April 30 of the following calendar year.
- b) Prior to March 1 for the period May 1 to October 31 of each calendar year.
- c) Approval or non-approval for vacation shall be given no later than either September 30 or April 5.

Approved vacation shall not be changed without the consent of the affected Employees. Vacation priority shall be allocated on the basis of seniority within each section and according to overall operational requirements.

- 18.05(2) A maximum of ten (10) days vacation in any year may be carried over to the next year at the Employee's discretion.
- 18.06 Subject to operational requirements, an Employee shall receive their vacation entitlement in an unbroken period if they so request. Vacation requests will not be unreasonably denied.
- Where an Employee qualified for sick, or any other approved leave during their period of vacation, and produces, in the case of sickness, a certificate from a licensed physician, there shall be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence.
  - The period of vacation so displaced shall either be added to the vacation period or reinstated for use at a later date, by mutual agreement between the Employer and Employee.
- 18.08 No Employee shall be required to work during their scheduled vacation period. However, should an Employee, if requested, agree to work during their scheduled vacation, they shall be paid at time and one half plus one day off for each day work was performed.
- During the period of December 23rd to the following January 2nd inclusive no Employee shall be scheduled by the Employer to work, except in emergency situations. Employees may use vacation time, lieu time or time off with no pay during this period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Employee who prefers to work during this period may do so; however, such time shall be at straight time.

During the period of December 23rd to the following January 2nd inclusive, members of the Technology and Innovation team may be scheduled to work between 1000 to 1800 hours with a one-half hour unpaid lunch period provided that client libraries are open. At least ten (10) working days before August 31st of each year, the Employer will inform all members of the Technology and Innovation team of the days the client libraries are open.

These Employees shall be paid a premium of 25% of their regular straight time hourly rate for all hours worked except where required to work on a Paid Holiday and/or a Day Off With Pay In Lieu, in which case they shall be paid in accordance with Article 17.

#### ARTICLE 19 - BENEFIT PLANS AND SICK LEAVE

- 19.01 The Employer's sole obligation for health and welfare benefits shall be to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premium costs for all participating eligible permanent and probationary full-time Employees and their eligible dependents for the following Plans:
  - a) Employer Health Tax;
  - b) Extended Health Care Plan, including a vision component providing four hundred and twenty-five dollars (\$425.00) every twenty-four (24) months and the cost of an eye examination every twenty-four (24) months.
  - c) Dental Plan equivalent to former Blue Cross #9, at the current ODA Fee Schedule, with nine (9) month recalls.
  - d) Group Life Insurance Plan one and one-half (1½) times basic annual earnings; Maximum of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000).
  - e) Short-term Disability Income Plan providing seventy-five percent (75%) of basic weekly earnings, with a three (3) calendar day waiting period except in the case of hospitalization or accident where there is no waiting period, twenty-six (26) week benefit period;
  - f) Long-term Disability Income Plan providing seventy-five percent (75%) of basic salary up to a maximum of seven thousand dollars (\$7000) subject to the non-evidence threshold of the insurance carrier, per month, two-year own occupation benefit, twenty-six (26) week elimination period for illness or injury not occurring in the employ of another Employer;
  - g) The conditions of all benefits described under Article 19 are governed by the terms and provisions of the master contract with the carrier and are not subject to grievance or arbitration except as to the payment of premiums. Should the Employer at any time move to any plan other than a premium based plan then the benefits described under Article 19 shall be subject to grievance or arbitration provisions of this Collective Agreement.

- 19.02 A full time Employee exercising their retirement option at age fifty-five (55) or older and who has at least five (5) years of service with the Employer shall have extended health care and dental benefits paid for by the Employer until age sixty-five (65). Such benefits are governed by the contract with the carrier and subject to changes in the contract with the carrier or changes in carriers.
- 19.03 The Employer retains the right to change carriers at any time provided that the following conditions are met:
  - i. the benefits can not be less than those described in 19.01 in whole or in part; and
  - ii. the Union is provided a detailed listing of any amendments to the plan thirty (30) days prior to any changes taking place; and
  - iii. the Employer must meet with the Union at least thirty (30) days prior to the implementation of any changes to the plan taking effect.
- 19.04 Employees on leave of absence without pay in excess of three (3) continuous calendar weeks shall assume the total cost of premiums for the Benefit Plans under Article 19.01 for those months covered by the leave of absence without pay.
- 19.05 Where medical certification is requested by either the Employer or the Employer's fringe benefit carrier, the full cost of such medical certification will borne by the Employer.
- 19.06 The Employer agrees to make available to all Employees and their dependants at no cost to the Employee, the services of a comprehensive and confidential Employee Assistance Program for the life of the Collective Agreement the conditions of which are to be governed by the terms and conditions of the master contract with the carrier.
- 19.07 Costs of benefits described in this Article shall be paid for by the Employer for a period of twenty-four (24) continuous months from the original date of certified disability for those Employees who qualify for Short Term Disability as described in Article 19:01(e) and Long Term Disability as described in Article 19:02(f).
- 19.08 Absence due to illness must be reported before 1000 a.m. on the first day of absence and each subsequent day unless such absence has been pre-approved as the result of the acceptance of medical certification
- 19.09 Full-time Employees may use discretionary leave days or annual vacation to maintain full pay during absence on short term disability.

# **ARTICLE 20 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

20.01 The Union hereby acknowledges and agrees that when the Employer grants representatives of the Employees leaves of absence during working hours for the purpose of negotiating a new Collective Agreement or amendments to or renewal of the present Collective Agreement, such leaves do not require the Employer to pay such representatives for the working hours concerned.

Representatives of the Union, to a maximum of three, shall not suffer any loss of pay or benefits for time - up to 21 hours per collective bargaining session - involved in negotiations with the Employer.

Upon request to the Employer, an Employee elected or appointed to represent the Union by attending a Union convention shall be allowed Leave of Absence without pay or benefits. The total number of Employees who may be absent at one time under this clause shall be 2.

#### 20.03

- a) The Employer recognizes the right of an Employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon written request, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without pay or benefits but without loss of seniority so that the Employee may be a candidate in Federal, Provincial, or Municipal elections.
- b) An Employee who is elected to public office shall be allowed leave of absence without pay or benefits during their first term of Office. Seniority shall not accumulate during this period.
- An Employee elected or appointed to a Union position shall be granted an unpaid leave of absence. An Employee shall receive the pay and benefits provided for in this Agreement when on unpaid leave of absence for Union work or conventions as allowed in this Article and in Article 20.02. However, the Union shall reimburse the Employer for all pay received during the entire period of absence and for benefits received after two weeks of such absence.

# 20.05(1) BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

An Employee shall be granted up to a maximum of seven (7) regularly scheduled consecutive work days without loss of pay or benefits, in the case of death of the Employee's spouse, same sex spouse, common-law spouse or children.

- 20.05(2) In the case of the death of a member of the immediate family, permanent and probationary Employees shall be permitted a maximum leave of absence with pay for five (5) consecutive working days which shall be taken immediately prior to, during or following the day of the funeral. Immediate family shall mean: father, step-father, mother, step-mother, brother, sister, step-son, step-daughter, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparents or grand-children. In the case of the death of an Aunt, Uncle, Niece, or Nephew, Employees shall be permitted a maximum leave of absence with pay for two (2) consecutive working days which shall be taken immediately prior to, during or following the day of the funeral. Bereavement leave of absence for the demise of members of the immediate family shall not be deducted from the Employee's sick leave credits
- 20.05(3) Up to two (2) days of any bereavement leave provided for under Articles 20.05(1) and 20.05(2) may be deferred to a later date for purposes of attending to legal matters. Such deferral must be requested during bereavement leave.
- 20.06(1) After return to work, Employees shall submit a bereavement leave request for consideration of payment for any bereavement leave by the Employer.
- 20.06(2) Bereavement leave shall be taken immediately prior to, during or following the day of the funeral. However, if burial occurs at a later date, the Employee may reserve a part of their bereavement leave for the internment.
- 20.06(3) An Employee shall be allowed up to four (4) hours leave with pay and without loss of seniority to attend a funeral.
- 20.06(4) Where an Employee qualifies for bereavement leave during their period of vacation or discretionary leave, there shall be no deduction from vacation or discretionary leave credits for such occurrence. The period of vacation or discretionary leave so displaced shall be credited to the Employee for future use.

# 20.07 <u>DISCRETIONARY LEAVE</u>

- a) Full-time Employees shall be allowed up to one hundred and five (105) hours, with a 5-day cap per incident per year discretionary leave without loss of regular straight time earnings and without loss of benefits. This leave will include Personal Emergency Leave entitlement under the *Employment Standards Act*.
- b) Such leave shall be taken at the discretion of the Employee's manager having regard to the reason for the leave and the client-service requirements of the operation. Discretionary approval shall not be arbitrarily or unreasonably withheld.

- c) Discretionary leave may be used for:
  - i. Personal appointments,
  - ii. Family emergencies,
  - iii. Illness,
  - iv. Illness of a child.
  - v. Income replacement during the waiting period for weekly indemnity benefits,
  - vi. Flight cancellations or delays or road closures or other unforeseen delays caused by weather.
- d) Discretionary leave may not be used as additional vacation or to extend vacation.
- e) Discretionary leave shall not accumulate from year to year and shall have no value upon termination of employment.
- f) Up to three consecutive days may be used for those non-emergent matters which do not fall within 20.07 (c) such as out-of-town medical appointments, personal care of family members or like circumstances.

# 20.08 <u>Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave</u>

Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave shall conform to the provisions of the *Employment Standards Act, R.S.O. 2000* and amendments thereto; however it is agreed and understood that an Employee returning to work after a Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave shall provide the Employer with a minimum two (2) weeks notice.

- An Employee entitled to Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave under this article, who provides the Employer with proof that the Employee has applied for and is to receive Employment Insurance Benefits shall be paid a supplement in accordance with the SUB plan which is attached as Appendix C to this agreement, provided the Employee has completed six months of active service.
- 20.10 An Employee on Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave shall not receive sick leave pay.
- 20.11 An Employee on Pregnancy/Parental Leave/ Adoption Leave shall continue to accrue annual vacation entitlement and seniority provided they return to the employ of the Employer at the end of said leave.

# 20.12 <u>Maintenance of Benefits</u>

Notwithstanding Article 19.04 the Employer will maintain benefits described in Article 19.01 during the period of Pregnancy/Parental Leave/Adoption Leave.

# 20.14 Jury and Witness Duty Leave

- 20.01(1) Employees subpoenaed to act as jurors or witnesses in criminal or civil courts, including coroner's inquests, shall be granted leave of absence for such purpose.
- 20.14(2) An Employee shall be entitled to the jury or witness duty fee or their full salary for the period, whichever is greater.
- 20.14(3) If the full salary for the period is greater than the jury or witness duty fee, then to receive their full salary, the Employee must first remit to the Employer the full amount of their jury or witness duty fee for the same period.
- 20.14(4) The Employee shall retain any travel expenses received in connection with jury or witness duty leave.
- 20.14(5) In the event an Employee is subpoenaed to act as a juror or witness in criminal or civil court, including coroner's inquests, and being on approved vacation, such time spent as a juror or witness shall be reinstated for further use of the Employee at a time mutually agreed between the Employee and their immediate manager.

# 20.15 General Leave of Absence

- 20.15(1) Full-time Employees, at the discretion of the Employer, shall be granted a maximum of twelve (12) months leave of absence without pay. Permission must be obtained in writing from the Chief Executive Officer.
- 20.15(2) Unless an Employee on leave of absence reports for duty on or before the expiration of such leave their name shall be taken from the seniority roster. If the Employee returns to work thereafter, they shall rank as a new Employee, provided however, that such leave may be extended by mutual consent of the Employer and the Union.
- 20.15(3) Leave of absence under this rule shall not be granted for the purpose of engaging in work outside the service of the Employer.
- 20.15(4) Any Employee now serving or who hereafter is conscripted to serve in the Armed Forces shall, during their absence while on military service, be granted leave of absence.
- 20.15(5) Full-time Employees may apply for leave of absence for up twelve (12) months to attend to educational needs related to the Employer's business. Permission must be obtained at least three (3) months prior to the start of such leave in writing from the Chief Executive Officer. The Employer will continue paying benefits as per the Collective Agreement to Employees on this education leave.

If the Employee does not return at the end of such leave or voluntarily terminates their employment within two years of returning from their leave of absence, the Employee shall refund the cost of benefits on a pro rata basis.

# 20.16 Leave for Care and Nurturing

# a) Emergency Leave

An Employee may be granted leave without pay for any unforeseeable family emergency within their immediate family (parents, siblings, spouse or children), including illness, accident, hospitalization or family crisis. Such leave shall be no longer than two weeks and the Employer shall continue to pay the premiums for Health Care benefits as provided for under Article 20. Approval for such leave must be obtained from a manager as soon as possible after the Employee becomes aware of the emergency. The total leave granted under this clause shall not exceed 6 months during an Employee's total period of employment. Time spent on such leaves shall not be counted for pay increment purposes. Should the Employee require an extension beyond the two week period, they may apply for leave under 20.16(b).

# b) Long Term Leave

- i. Subject to operational requirements, a full-time Employee may be granted leave without pay for the personal care and/or nurturing of the Employee's parents, siblings, spouse or children in accordance with the following conditions.
- ii. An Employee shall make a written request to the Employer as far in advance as possible but not less than four (4) weeks in advance of the date the leave commences. The Employer may waive this notice period in the case of an emergency leave as defined in 20.16(a). Such request will indicate the expected return date. Extensions may be requested no later than two weeks prior to the expected return date.
- iii. Leave granted under this clause shall be for a minimum period of three (3) months, with the exception of extensions to emergency leave as defined in 20.16(a).
- iv. The total leave granted under this clause shall not exceed five (5) years during an Employee's total period of employment.
- v. Time spent on such leave shall not be counted for pay increment or seniority purposes.
- vi. There will be no benefits paid during this leave of absence and vacation shall not accrue.

vii. Leaves of absence under this clause shall not be granted for the purpose of engaging in work outside the service of the Employer.

#### ARTICLE 21 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

- 21.01 The Employer shall pay salaries and wages bi-weekly for the current pay period in accordance with Appendix "B" attached hereto and forming part of this Agreement. On each Pay Day each Employee shall be provided with an itemized statement of their wages, overtime, and other supplementary pay and deductions. The Employer may not make deductions from wages for salaries unless authorized by the Employee, statute, court order, arbitration order or by this Agreement.
- 21.02 The Employer shall deposit pay into a bank, trust company or credit Union of the Employee's choice.
- 21.03 Rate of Pay on Promotion or Reclassification
- 21.03(1) An Employee assigned, promoted or reclassified in accordance with this Collective Agreement to a higher paying position carrying a single rate of pay shall receive the rate of pay and benefits for this position for the time the Employee performs that job.
- 21.03(2) The date of entry of promotion to the new classification shall become the anniversary date for application of the salary progression.
- When, at the Employer's request, an Employee temporarily relieves in or performs the principal duties of a higher paying position, they shall be placed on the salary grade for that position, at a step which gives the Employee an increase in salary. The Employee shall qualify for any pay increments based on the length of service in the temporary assignment.
- 21.05 Temporary Transfer Outside the Bargaining Unit

Where the higher position is a non - unionized position the Employee shall be placed on the salary grid for non unionized Employees at a step which gives him/her an increase in salary. The Employee shall be deemed to be covered by Article 5 – Union Security during the period of temporary transfer and shall retain seniority as per 12.05(1).

#### 21.06 No Lower Rate

When an Employee is temporarily assigned in accordance with the terms of this Collective Agreement to a position paying a lower rate, their rate shall not be reduced, unless the re-assignment is at the request of the Employee.

#### 21.07 Travel & Subsistence

Travel and subsistence expenses for Employees travelling as part of their employment responsibilities, shall be reimbursed by the Board at the current rates adopted by the Employer.

#### 21.08 <u>Cash Shortages</u>

An Employee handling cash shall not be responsible for repayment of shortages, except in the case of criminal negligence.

- 21.09 The Employer, at its discretion, may pay the costs incurred by an Employee in defending any legal proceeding brought against them in relation to the performance of their duties.
- 21.10 Employees who are required by their Manager to train other Employees will be compensated at the rate of 10% above their basic rate for the period of time authorized for such training, except where such training is part of the Employee's duties as outlined in their job description. Orientation to an individual doing the same duties shall not be considered "training".

#### **ARTICLE 22 - JOB EVALUATION**

- 22.01 The provisions, which form the basis of the Joint Job Evaluation Plan, are contained in the Collective Bargaining Agreement and the Job Evaluation Manual/Terms of Reference. The provisions of the manual shall apply as if set forth in full in the Collective Bargaining Agreement. Matters related to dollars are covered in the Collective Bargaining Agreement. Matters related to job evaluation are covered in the job evaluation manual.
- 22.02 The plan covers all jobs falling under the scope of the agreement.
- 22.03 The Employer has and shall retain the exclusive right to decide what work is to be done and when to do it and accordingly, the Employer and the Union, through the joint job evaluation committee shall apply the Job Evaluation Plan to determine appropriate salary groups for the job. When a new position is created, the Employer will assign an interim salary range on the grid. This ranking will be reviewed by the Joint Job Evaluation Committee after the position has been filled for approximately six months.

The Employer shall exercise these rights in accordance with the provisions as set forth in the Collective Agreement and the Job Evaluation Manual.

All jobs processed under the Joint Job Evaluation Plan shall be designated a salary group in the salary schedule issued in conjunction with the collective agreement.

- 22.04 The Employer shall supply a copy of the Joint Job Evaluation Plan to each Employee.
- 22.05 All jobs processed under the Joint Job Evaluation Plan shall be designated a salary group in the salary schedule issued in conjunction with the Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- 22.06 The Union's role shall be to act on behalf of its members to insure that the Job Evaluation Plan is being properly applied.

In order to carry out this function the Union member(s) to the Joint Job Evaluation committee shall work in liaison with the management representatives of the committee during regular working hours.

The Union shall exercise these rights in accordance with the provisions as set forth in the collective agreement and the job evaluation manual.

The Union shall retain its right to participate jointly with the Employer in developing and modifying the plan.

#### 22.07 Referees

The parties agree that the following method of dispute resolution will replace the process in place during the initial job evaluation process:

The Union executive and management shall each designate a referee who shall be experienced in job evaluation to whom disputes will be referred when the joint rating committee cannot reach unanimous agreement on matters involving the adequacy of job descriptions, specifications and/or interpretation or application of the manual and rating scale or when the committee cannot come to agreement on amendments to the Job Evaluation Plan. Such matters shall be referred to the referee stage within 30 calendar days of such failure.

The referees will make every effort to reach unanimous agreement as to the resolution of the dispute. Unanimous agreement by the referees shall be final and binding on the Union and management.

No person shall act as a referee who has any financial interest in the matters coming before them, or who is, or has been, an Employee of OLS-North.

The Union will reimburse the referee appointed by the Union, and likewise, the Employer will reimburse the referee appointed by management.

When unanimous agreement cannot be reached by the referees, within 30 calendar days after a matter has been referred to them for resolution, they shall each prepare a written report setting out their respective positions and reasons therefore and submit copies to the CEO and Union President. Such unresolved matters may then be referred by either party, to arbitration for final decision within 20 working days of the receipt of the referees written reports.

When the referees achieve unanimous agreement, they shall communicate their decision, in writing, to the CEO and Union President. The Employer will send a copy of the referees report to each member of the joint job evaluation committee. This information must be treated as confidential by the Committee until the decision has been communicated to the affected incumbent(s) and appropriate manager.

The referees shall not have the power to deal with any matter, not specifically referred to them as being in dispute; nor shall they have the power to make amendments to the manual unless specifically referred.

#### ARTICLE 23 - PENSION PLAN & BENEFIT STATEMENT

- 23.01 The Pension plan (s) established under the *Canada Pension Plan Act* and the *Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System Act* shall be adopted by the Employer and the Employees.
- All Employees shall be covered by the *Worker's Safety Insurance Act*. Under this Act the Employer agrees to participate as a Schedule 1 Employer. No Employee shall have their employment terminated as a result of absence from work with a compensable accident.
- 23.03 The Employer shall provide and pay the premiums of a policy for Travel Insurance, including Common Carrier Coverage, in the amount of \$100,000 for each Employee required to travel on employment-related duties outside the city in which the OLS-North office they are assigned to is located.
- An Employee prevented from performing their regular work with the Employer on account of an occupational accident that is covered by the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Act* shall receive from the Employer the difference between the amount payable by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board and the rate of pay of their classification. If for any reason the Employee's classification is eliminated the difference paid shall be in comparison to an equal classification. Pending a settlement of the insurable claim, the Employee shall continue to receive the full pay and benefits of this Agreement, subject to necessary adjustments.

### 23.05 Continuation of Pay

In order to continue receiving their regular salary, the Employee shall assign their compensation cheque to the Employer. In return, the Employer shall indicate the amount received from the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board as a deduction from gross income on the Employee's Income Tax [T-4] form.

## 23.06 Continuation of Rights and Benefits

An Employee receiving payment for a compensable injury under WSIB shall accumulate seniority and shall be entitled to all benefits under this Collective Agreement. While on WSIB, the Employer and Employee shall continue to pay their share of all premiums for Employee Benefit plans, including the Pension Plan, based on 100% of earnings for a maximum period of 24 months from the date of injury.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - HEALTH & SAFETY**

24.01 The Union and the Employer shall cooperate in improving rules and practices which will provide adequate protection to Employees engaged in any work for the Employer.

## 24.02 <u>Union-Employer Health & Safety Committee</u>

A Health & Safety Committee shall be established which is composed of two Union and two Employer members. The Health & Safety Committee shall hold meetings at least once every three (3) months or more frequently if an emergency situation warrants, for jointly considering, monitoring, inspecting, investigating, reviewing and improving health and safety conditions and practices. Minutes shall be taken of all meetings and copies shall be sent to the Chief Executive Officer and CUPE, Local 4705.

#### 24.03 Health & Safety Committee Pay Provisions

Time spent by members of the Committee in the course of their duties shall be considered as time worked and shall be paid for in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

#### 24.04 Disclosure of Information

The Employer shall provide the Union written information which identifies all the biological agents, compounds, substances, by-products and physical hazards associated with the work environment. Where applicable, this information shall include, but not be restricted to, the chemical breakdown of trade name descriptions, information on known and suspected potential hazards, the maximum concentration exposure levels, precautions to be taken, symptoms, medical treatment and antidotes.

#### 24.05 Safety & Health Reports, Records & Data

The Employer shall provide the members of the Health and Safety Committee with the details of every accident, incident, or occurrence of an occupational disease that occurred at the worksite in the previous three (3) months. In addition, the Employer shall provide members of the Committee with any other health and safety records in the possession of the Employer, including records, reports and data provided to and by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board and other Government Departments and Agencies.

#### 24.06 Right to Refuse or Stop Unsafe Work

No Employee shall be required to work on any job or operate any piece of equipment until they have received proper training and instruction.

- An Employee who is injured or made sick during working hours, and is required to leave for treatment or is sent home as a result of such injury or sickness shall receive payment for the remainder of the shift at their regular rate of pay provided that such incident is reported to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board.
- 24.08 The Employee shall report any workplace accident or illness to their Employer as soon as possible after the accident occurs or the Employee becomes aware of the illness. The Employer shall provide the injured worker and with the Employee's written permission, the Local Union with a completed copy of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Form 7 Employer's Report of Accidental Injury or Industrial Disease at the same time the form is submitted to WSIB.

#### **ARTICLE 25 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE**

- Where technological change occurs which will require either new classifications and/or increase in the number of Employees in existing classifications the Employer agrees to post and subsequently fill these classifications as training opportunities. The successful applicants to these training opportunities will be entitled to acquire the necessary knowledge and/or skills through the provisions of Article 25.02
- In the event of a technological change no additional Employees shall be hired by the Employer until Employees affected by the change, or Employees on lay-off, have been notified of the proposed technological change and allowed a maximum six months training period to acquire the necessary knowledge and/or skill to retain their employment.

The Employer shall pay the full cost of training. During the six (6) month training period the Employee(s) involved shall suffer no loss of rights under the terms of the Collective Agreement

Every opportunity will be taken to alleviate the impact of change as it affects the Employees.

#### 25.04 Contracting Out

The Parties hereto agree that there shall be no restriction on contracting out by the Employer of its work or services of a kind now performed by Employees or previously performed by or that which could be performed by Employees herein represented, provided however that no permanent Employee of the Employer shall as a direct result of such contracting out thereby lose employment be demoted or suffer a loss of negotiated basic wages and benefits. Whenever the Employer intends to contract out such work or services of an ongoing nature, the Employer shall provide the Union with at least thirty (30) calendar days' notice in advance of the actual contracting out.

Once the contract has been awarded, the Employer agrees to provide the Union with the name of the contractor and the location of the work to be performed.

25.05 The Employer agrees that if, as a result of technological change and/or contracting out, any displacement of Employees is anticipated as a result thereof, the Union will be provided with as much advance notification as possible.

#### **ARTICLE 26 – GENERAL CONDITIONS**

- Accommodation shall be provided for Employees to have their meals and store their clothes.
- 26.02 The Employer shall provide bulletins boards which shall be placed so that all Employees will have access to them and upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the Employees.
- 26.03 No staff member shall work from home.

#### **ARTICLE 27 - PRESENT CONDITIONS & BENEFITS**

All provisions of this Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted, or proclamation or regulation shall invalidate or disallow any portion of this Agreement, the entire Agreement shall not be invalidated and the remaining rights, privileges and obligations of the Parties contained in this Agreement remain in existence. In such an event this Agreement shall be reopened for negotiation, if there is no agreement between the Parties on this issue, the matter shall be resolved by Arbitration.

#### 27.02 <u>Amalgamation, Regionalization & Merger Protection</u>

In the event the Employer merges or amalgamates with any other body or becomes a new legal entity, the Employer endeavours to ensure that:

- 1) Employees shall be credited with all seniority rights with the new Employer.
- 2) All service credits relating to vacation with pay, pension benefits and any other benefits shall be recognized by the new Employer.
- 3) All work and services presently performed by members of the Canadian Union of Public Employees shall continue to be performed by CUPE members with the new Employer.
- 4) Conditions of employment and wage rates for the new Employer shall be equal to the best provisions in effect with the merging Employers.
- 5) No Employee shall suffer a loss of employment as a result of a merger, amalgamation regionalization or the creation of a new legal entity.
- 6) Preference in location of employment in the merged organization shall be on the basis of existing location as the primary factor and then seniority.
- 7) The Canadian Union of Public Employees shall be granted voluntary recognition as the Bargaining Agent for all Employees of the new Employer.
- Any benefits which may come into existence during the life of this Agreement that are not specifically covered by this Agreement, shall remain in effect and shall be deemed to be part of this Agreement and shall be appended hereto.

#### **ARTICLE 28 - TERMS OF AGREEMENT**

- 28.01(1) This Agreement shall be binding and remain in effect until 31 March 2021 and unless either party gives to the other party a written notice of termination or of a desire to amend this Agreement in accordance with Clause 28.03 (1) then it shall continue in effect for a further year without change and so on from year to year thereafter.
- 28.01(2) The Employer recognizes that the Employees bargaining rights date from 1 December 1987.
- Any changes deemed necessary to this Agreement may be made by mutual agreement at any time during the existence of this Agreement.

- 28.03(1) Either party desiring to propose changes to this Agreement shall within the one hundred and fifty (150) days prior to the termination date give notice in writing to the other Party. Such notice shall be given no later than thirty (30) days before termination of the agreement.
- 28.03(2) If notice of amendments or termination is given by either party pursuant to Article 28.03 (1), the other party if requested to do so, agrees to meet for the purpose of negotiations within fifty (50) calendar days from receipt of the said notice, provided that the party giving the notice, if requested by the other party, shall consent to a reasonable extension to the twenty (20) calendar day period.
- 28.04 <u>Retroactive Pay for Terminated Employees</u>

An Employee who has terminated their employment before the signing of this Agreement shall receive the full retroactivity of any increase in wages or salaries.

28.05 Changes in this Agreement shall not be adjusted retroactively unless specified herein.

Dated at Sudbury, Ontario this 17th day of December, 2018.

FOR THE EMPLOYER

FOR THE UNIC

# NORTHERN ONTARIO LIBRARY SERVICE BOARD

# APPENDIX A GRADE AND POSITIONS

GRADE	POINTS	POSITION
1	150 - 250	
2	251 – 350	
3	351 – 450	
4	451 – 550	
5	551 - 650	Finance and Purchasing Assistant
6	651 – 750	Communications and Training Co-ordinator Finance Assistant First Nations Capacity Building Advisor First Nations Skills Development Advisor Skills Development Advisor Skills Development Advisor – Cataloguing and Collections Technology Advisor
7	751 – 850	Service Team Lead Skills Development Service Team Lead Technology and Innovation

#### APPENDIX B

## (a) (i) Salary Scale – Local 4705

#### Salary Scale - Local 4705

01-Apr-18 - 31-Mar-19

Grade	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
7 Points: 751-850	35.41	36.75	38.15	39.58	41.09
6 Points: 651-750	31.65	32.86	34.09	35.41	36.75
5 Points: 551-650	27.90	28.95	30.04	31.21	32.38
4 Points: 451-550	24.13	25.08	26.03	27.02	28.06
3 Points: 351-450	20.35	21.14	21.98	22.81	23.66
2 Points: 251-350	16.63	17.26	17.93	18.60	19.32
1 Points: 150-250	14.95				

# (a) (i) Salary Scale – Local 4705

## Salary Scale - Local 4705

01-Apr-19 - 31-Mar-20

Grade	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
7 Points: 751-850	35.76	37.12	38.53	39.98	41.50
6 Points: 651-750	31.97	33.18	34.43	35.76	37.12
5 Points: 551-650	28.18	29.24	30.34	31.52	32.70
4 Points: 451-550	24.37	25.33	26.29	27.29	28.34
3 Points: 351-450	20.56	21.35	22.20	23.03	23.90
2 Points: 251-350	16.80	17.43	18.11	18.79	19.51
1 Points: 150-250	15.10				

# (a) (ii) Salary Scale – Local 4705

# Salary Scale - Local 4705

01-Apr-20 - 31-Mar-21

Grade	Step 1	Stor 2	0, 0	1 1200	
	Otep 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
7 Points: 751-850	36.30	37.68	39.11	40.58	42.12
6 Points: 651-750	32.45	33.68	34.94	36.30	37.68
5 Points: 551-650	28.60	29.67	30.79	31.99	33.19
4 Points: 451-550	24.74	25.71	26.68	27.70	28.76
3 Points: 351-450	20.86	21.67	22.53	23.38	24.26
2 Points: 251-350	17.05	17.70	18.38	19.07	19.81
1 Points: 150-250	15.32	1			

#### APPENDIX C

# Supplemental Unemployment Benefits (Sub) plan Between The Northern Ontario Library Service Board And Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 4705

- 1. The following group of Employees is covered by the plan: Employees of the Northern Ontario Library Service Board including those who are members of CUPE, Local #4705.
- 2. The plan is to supplement the employment insurance benefits received by workers for temporary unemployment caused by pregnancy/adoption or parental leave.
- 3. Employees must prove that they have applied for and are in receipt of employment insurance benefits in order to receive payment under the plan by providing benefit stubs to the Employer.
  - SUB is payable for the period during which an Employee is in receipt of EI.
- 4. The benefit level paid under this plan is the difference between the Employee's weekly rate of Employment Insurance benefits and 75% of the Employee's regular weekly earnings and in no case will the combined weekly rate of the E.I. Benefit and SUB payments exceed 95% of the Employee's normal weekly earnings.
- 5. The sub-benefit will be paid for:
  - 15 weeks (pregnancy leave) 15 weeks – (parental/adoption leave)
- 6. The plan is financed by the Employer's general revenues.
  - SUB payments will be kept separate from payroll records.
- 7. The plan is in effect for the term of the current Collective Agreement.
- 8. The Employer will inform Human Resources Development Canada in writing of any changes to the plan within thirty (30) days of the effective date of the change.
- 9. Employees do not have a right to SUB payments except for the supplementation of EI benefits for the unemployment period as specified in the plan.
- 10. Payments in respect of guaranteed annual remuneration or in respect of deferred remuneration or severance pay benefits will not be reduced or increased by payments received under the plan.
- 11. The Employer's Revenue Canada Taxation registration numbers are:
  - 107798217RP0001 and 107798217RP0002.

#### APPENDIX D

#### Letter of Understanding

#### Between

The Northern Ontario Library Service Board (The Employer)

and

#### CUPE and its Local #4705

#### Re: OLA Membership

The Employer and Union agree that the career development of professional staff is a shared responsibility. The Employer will from April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2021 reimburse any Employee who purchases a membership with the Ontario Library Association for 50% of the costs of the membership. It is understood that any Employee requesting to attend the Ontario Library Association Conference during this time, must purchase an OLA membership

#### APPENDIX E

# PREPAID LEAVE PROGRAM BETWEEN ONTARIO LIBRARY SERVICE – NORTH AND CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL #4705

The Employer agrees to introduce a Pre-paid Leave Program (hereinafter known as the Program), funded solely by the participating Employee, subject to the following terms and conditions:

- 1. The Program is available to Employees wishing to spread four (4) years' salary over a five (5) year period, in accordance with Part LXVIII of the Income Tax Regulations, Section 6801, to enable them to take a one (1) year leave of absence following the four (4) years of salary deferral.
- 2. The Employee must make written application to the Chief Executive Officer at least (6) months prior to the intended commencement of the program (i.e. the salary deferral portion), stating the intended purpose of the leave.
- 3. Written applications will be reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer or designate. Leaves requested for the purpose of pursuing further formal education will be given priority. Applications for leaves requested for other purposes will be given the next level of priority. In the event that two or more applications of similar priority are received for the same period, approval shall be on the basis of seniority.
- 4. No more than one (1) Employee shall be absent at any one time and, therefore no two (2) or more applications shall be approved for the same year. The year for the purposes of the Program shall be from April 1 of one year to March 31 of the succeeding year of such other twelve (12) month period as may be agreed by the Employee, the Union and the Employer.
- 5. During the four (4) years of salary deferral, 20% of the Employee's gross annual earnings will be deducted and be held for the Employee and shall not be accessible to them until the year of the leave or upon withdrawal from the Program.
- 6. The manner in which the deferred salary is held shall be at the discretion of the Employer.
- 7. All deferred salary, plus accrued interest, if any, shall be paid to the Employee at the commencement of the leave or in accordance with such other payment schedule as may be agreed between the Employer and the Employee.

- 8. All benefits shall be kept whole during the four (4) years of salary deferral. During the year of leave, seniority will accumulate for all purposes. The Employee where applicable shall become responsible for the full payment of premiums for any health and welfare benefits in which the Employee is participating. Contributions in OMERS will be as from time to time required by that Plan. The Employee will not be eligible to participate in the disability income program during the year of leave.
- 9. The Employee may withdraw from the Program at any time during the deferred portion provided three (3) months' notice is given to the Chief Executive Officer. Deferred salary, plus accrued interest, if any, will be returned to the Employee at the end of the three (3) month notice period.
- 10. If the Employee terminates employment for any reason, the deferred salary held by the Employer, plus accrued interest, if any, will be returned to the Employee no later than the end of the second pay period following the termination. In the case of an Employee's death, the funds will be paid to the Employee's estate.
- 11. The Employer may try to find a temporary replacement for an Employee during the year of leave as far in advance as is practice.
- 12. At the end of the leave the Employee will be reinstated to their former position unless that position has been discontinued in which case the Employee shall exercise their seniority rights pursuant to the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- 13. Final approval for entry into the Program will be subject to the Employee and the Employer entering into a formal agreement in order to authorize the Employee to make appropriate deductions from the Employee's pay. Such agreement will include:
  - (a) A statement that the Employee is entering the pre-paid leave program in accordance with Pre-paid Leave Program provisions of the Collective Agreement.
  - (b) The period of salary deferral and the dates of the leave period which is requested.
  - (c) The manner in which the deferred salary is to be held.
  - (d) The letter of application from the Employee to the Employer to enter the pre-paid leave program will be appended to and form part of the written agreement.

#### APPENDIX F

#### CEO

#### **BETWEEN**

# ONTARIO LIBRARY SERVICE - NORTH

#### AND

#### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL #4705

The CEO shall recommend that Board Policy shall include the following:

An Employee who is required to use their personal vehicle for work related business shall receive a mileage allowance of .43/km or any greater amount as approved by the Board.

It is understood that no Employee shall be required to use their personal vehicle for work related business in excess of 100 km return. For travel over 100 km, the Employer will rent a vehicle for the Employee.

#### APPENDIX G

## HOURS OF WORK - TECHNICAL ADVISORS

#### **BETWEEN**

#### ONTARIO LIBRARY SERVICE - NORTH

#### **AND**

#### CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL #4705

The Parties agree to meet during the term of the current Collective Agreement to discuss the hours of work for the Technology Advisors and Lead-Technology and Innovation.

The discussion will be in relation to evening and weekend work, taking into consideration operational requirements, the nature of the work, and the volume of work performed during this time.